OUI. ZJ. ZVZV J. IVIN

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED

98809-9

COA No. 361349 - III

JUL 2 3 2020

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# HARLAN DOUGLASS and MAXINE H. DOUGLASS, Plaintiffs/Respondents

VS.

# BRYAN J. REILLY Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD FREEBOURN
WSBA #35624
ROBERTS | FREEBOURN, PLLC
1325 W. 1st Ave., Suite 303
Spokane, Washington 99201
(509) 381-5262
Attorney for Petitioner

#

#### IDENTITY OF PETITIONER I.

Page: 6

The Petitioner is Bryan J. Reilly ("Reilly"). Reilly is the Defendant in the Spokane County Superior Court, and Appellant in Division III Court of Appeals. Reilly's motion for mistrial was denied, despite counsel for the Plaintiffs/Respondents' direct violation of a motion in limine preventing any mentioned that Reilly was criminally charged for taking jewelry, watches, and gold bullion from Respondents' home, which were the basis of the conversion claims before the jury. There was an additional motion in limine preventing any mention that Reilly was not charged for taking money from the Defendant/Respondents' safe, which was the most substantial claim before the jury. At the time of trial, Reilly had never been convicted of any crime, and this substantial prejudiced could not be overcome by Reilly. Reilly appealed the trial court's decision not to grant a mistrial, and the Division III upheld the trial court's decision.

Additionally, Reilly appealed the trial court's denial of the motion for directed verdict and motion to bifurcate unrelated claims. Despite no evidence, Reilly ever possessed the money taken from Respondents' safe, Division III affirmed the trail court's denial of the motion for directed verdict based on a newly raised issue by Division III at oral argument that Reilly's prior bad acts and common scheme was the evidence of conversion of money from the safe. This newly raised issue, and confusion by the jury, trial court and Division III, is exactly why Reilly sought bifurcation of the unrelated conversion claims.

### II. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION</u>

Petitioner seeks review of Harlan Douglass, et ux v. Bryan J. Reilly, 36134-9-III, 2020 WL 3432978, June 23, 2020, hereafter "Decision."

### III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

2

- 1. Whether Respondents' direct violation of the motion in limine preventing any mention that Reilly was criminally charged with the same claims as the conversion claims prevented Reilly from having a fair trial.
- Whether Division III raised a new issue not raised by the parties and affirmed the trial court's decisions to deny directed verdict and bifurcation of claims based on inadmissible prior bad acts.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Relevant Procedural History

On December 22, 2017, Reilly filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to dismiss Respondents' claim for conversion by theft because Respondents could not prove Reilly ever possessed the money they alleged to have been taken from their safe. CP 1311-1425; 1628-1635. On February 2, 2018, the trial court denied Reilly's motion for

UUI. ZJ. ZVZV J. | | I IYI

summary judgment. The trial court found that it was not necessary for the Respondents to prove Reilly possessed the property, but whether he interfered with the property. RP 37-41. On February 20, 2018, Reilly filed for reconsideration of the trial court's order denying motion for summary judgment. CP 1752-1798. On March 23, 2018, the trial court issued an order denying Reilly's motion for reconsideration.

On March 16, 2018, Reilly filed a motion to bifurcate the unrelated conversion claims. CP 1964-2043. Reilly argued that the conversion claim alleged to have occurred between 2:00 PM and 3:25 PM on September 25, 2015, should be bifurcated into a separate trial from the other conversion claims alleged to have occurred on 2013 and 2014, that were in no way related. CP 1964-2043. The trial court denied Reilly's motion to bifurcate the unrelated claims. CP 2044-2045.

On April 6, 2018, the trial court heard argument and considered the parties' motions in limine. RP 72-150. The trial court ruled the Respondents could not inform the jury of the six pending felonies Reilly had been charged with by Spokane Police related to the same property for which Respondents were seeking damages at trial in their second cause of action, and in turn Reilly could not inform the jury had had never been charged with a crime related to the money being taken from the Respondents safe, which was the subject of Respondents' first cause of

action. RP 83-85; RP 238-245; CP 645-660. On the first day of trial, Respondents counsel intentionally violated the motion in limine when he asked Reilly's mother on the witness stand whether she was aware Reilly had been charged with six felonies related to the property at issue in this trial. RP 238-245. Reilly moved the court for a mistrial as a result of the intentional violation of the motion in limine, and Reilly's motion for mistrial was denied. RP 238-245. The trial court instructed the jury to only consider the evidence, and that Mr. Hassing's statement was not evidence. RP 245. The trial court did not instruct the jury Mr. Hassing's statement regarding Reilly being charged with six felonies was untrue and did not allow Reilly to inform the jury he was not charged with taking the money from Respondents' safe. RP 245.

On April 30, 2018, at the close of the Respondents case, Reilly moved the trial court for a directed verdict on Respondents first cause of action; conversion by theft related to the allegation Reilly took money from their safe on September 25, 2015, between 2:00 PM and 3:25 PM. RP 1985-2023. Respondents failed to present any evidence in their case-in-chief that Reilly ever possessed the money alleged to have been taken from the safe, or that Reilly was even in their home on September 25, 2015, the date they allege the theft occurred. RP 1985-2023. Reilly argued that in order for a case to be based entirely on circumstantial

evidence without any direct evidence, the circumstantial evidence has to be tied together and related such that there is only one reasonable conclusion that can be drawn from the circumstantial evidence; otherwise the jury is allowed to speculate as to the result. RP 1986-1991. The trial court denied Reilly's direct verdict. RP 2019-2023.

The case went to the jury, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Respondents in the amount of \$800,281.00. CP 2437-2441. Reilly appealed, and Division III affirmed.

#### Statement of Facts

The Respondents allege that on September 25, 2015, between 2:00 PM and 3:25 PM, Reilly entered their home and took \$1,080,000 from their safe. CP 645-660. Respondents allege this amount of cash was kept in a large safe in the basement of their home. CP 645-660. Approximately one year prior to the alleged theft, on August 3, 2014, Jeroline Via and Harlan Douglass counted the money located in Respondents' safe. RP 1284. Ms. Via was Harlan Douglass's girlfriend, and August 3, 2014, it was Ms. Via's birthday. RP 1283. Ms. Via and Harlan Douglass counted approximately \$500,000 in cash before they became tired and decided to stop counting the money. RP 1270. A tally sheet created by Ms. Via and Harlan Douglass from the day they counted the money showed they had counted \$264,900 in cash. RP 1267-1269;

Ex. P-73. The money located in the safe was never counted again prior to the alleged theft on September 25, 2015. RP 1284. After counting the money on August 3, 2014, Harlan Douglass periodically took money out of the safe when he would go on trips. RP 1284.

Approximately one year later, on September 21, 2015, four days before the alleged theft, Ms. Via and Harlan Douglass locked the safe prior to leaving on a trip to Paris, France. RP 1285. On Friday, September 25, 2015, the day Respondents allege money was taken from their safe, Ms. Via and Harlan Douglass were out of the country in Paris, France. RP 1382. At 9:52 PM Matthew Dutton, the individual who worked as a security person for Harlan Douglass, arrived at the Respondents' property to conduct his normal patrol. RP 1314-1315. During this visit at 9:52 PM, Mr. Dutton observed an upstairs bedroom light on, as well as lights on in the basement and assumed Harlan Douglass was home, was awake, and did not notice anything to be amiss during his patrol, so he left and went about his business. RP 1326-1329; CP 474-476.

At 3:00 AM, on Saturday, September 26, 2015, Mr. Dutton returned for his second patrol of the Respondents' property. RP 1327; CP 474-476. During his second visit to the property, Mr. Dutton observed that the upstairs bedroom light was now off, the basement lights were still on, and upon closer examination a basement window was open with a

screen removed from the window. RP 1326-1329. The next day, Saturday, September 26, 2015, Mel Taylor, and Deanna Malcome, assistant for Harlan Douglass, entered the home and found the safe located in Respondents' basement to be open. RP 1559. Harley and Lisa Douglass arrived and stayed at the property waiting for the police to arrive, while Mr. Taylor and Ms. Malcome left the property. RP 1559-1563.

When the police arrived Ms. Douglass informed the police she believed \$200,000 in cash was taken from the safe. RP 1632. Ms. Douglass then reported to police that she believed \$250,000, \$400,000, \$750,000 and finally \$1,000,000 was taken from the safe. RP 404; 1632. Ms. Douglass admitted at trial that she increased the amount missing because she believed the police were not treating the theft very seriously. RP 1632-1634. Lisa Douglass had no personal knowledge of how much money was in the safe at the time of the alleged conversion. RP 1627-1628.

Lisa Douglass compiled a list of all the people who were actually at the Respondents' home on September 25, 2015. RP 1661-1664; Ex. D-230. On September 25, 2015, there were several people at Respondents' home, none of which were Reilly. RP 1662-1664; 1667. There were four individuals inside the home cleaning, there was an individual cleaning the

Page: 13

JULI. ZJ. ZVZV J. IZLIV

NU. ZZJV 1. 13

pool, there were multiple people form Mr. Douglass's company working on the property, and there were multiple painters. RP 1663. Based on Lisa Douglass's investigation and the list, she testified there was no evidence that Reilly was ever at the Respondents' home on September 25, 2015. RP 1667.

Detective Mark Newton of the Spokane County Police Department lead the investigation. RP 374-376. Based on his investigation, Detective Newton determined that the break-in occurred sometime between 9:52 PM on Friday, September 25, 2015, and 3:00 AM, Saturday, September 26, 2015. CP 81-128. This same conclusion was reached by Tanner Haynes, the investigator the Douglass family hired to look into the missing money from their safe. RP 1451. Detective Newton had no evidence whatsoever that the alleged theft occurred between 2:00 PM and 3:25 PM on September 25, 2015. RP 400-401.

On Monday, September 28, 2015, Harley and Lisa Douglass were searching Respondents property for money left behind from the safe, and Reilly discovered a garbage bag full of money. RP 383-384. The garbage bag full of money was found near a trail where Harley and Lisa Douglass had parked their vehicle. RP 908-911; Ex D-226. Reilly never touched the bag of money, and took pictures clearly showing various

denominations of money through the white garbage bag. RP 911-915;1673; Ex. D-227; D-228.

Before the police arrived at the scene, the money had been removed from the scene by Hayden Douglass. RP 1434. The police took fingerprints of the white garbage bag that contained the money when it was found by Reilly, and the only fingerprints in the bag where Lisa Douglass's fingerprints; Reilly's fingerprints were not on the bag. RP 400-401; 1673.

On Monday, September 28, 2015, the money taken to Harley and Lisa Douglass's home was counted by Harley, Lisa and Hayden Douglass and they arrived at \$417,406 as the total. RP 1789. At no time did the Spokane County Police ever see the recovered money, nor did they do anything to verify the amount alleged to have been recovered was accurate. RP 402-403. At no time, including through trial, had the Respondent Harlan Douglass seen the recovered money, counted the recovered money, verified what money was actually recovered, and has never had the money returned to his possession. RP 1407.

Because the Respondents' safe was undamaged upon investigation,

Detective Newton concluded that the person who took the money from the

Respondents' safe had to have the combination, or the safe had to have

been left open. RP. 379. The only individuals that possessed the

VUI. ZJ. ZVZV J. IZIWI

Page: 15

NU.ZZJV I. IJ

Ö.

combination to Respondents' safe were Jeri Via, Harlan Douglass, Lisa Douglass, and Harley Douglass. RP 1282. There was no evidence that Reilly ever possessed the combination to Respondents' safe. RP 385-386; 1294.

### C. Division III Decision.

On June 23, 2020, Division III issued a decision upholding the trial court's decision to deny Reilly's request for a mistrial based on Respondent's counsel's direct violation of the motion in limine preventing any mention that Reilly was criminally charged for taking jewelry, gold bullion, and watches from Respondents' home. Division III agreed there was a violation of the motion in limine, but that there was no prejudice to Reilly because it was an isolated incident in a lengthy trial and because uncontested evidence was presented that Reilly could face criminal charges. The Decision ignores there was an additional motion in limine preventing Reilly from mentioning that he was not charged by police for taking the money from Respondents' safe. Respondent's violation of the motion in limine occurred at the very beginning of trial tainting the jury beyond recovery, and Reilly was not even allowed to level the playing field by informing the jury that he was not criminally charged with taking money from Respondents' safe. The trial court's failure to grant a mistrial, or at the very least, allow Reilly to inform the jury he was not OUT, ZJ. ZVZV J. JJIN

Page: 16

NV. ZZJV 1. 10

criminally charged with taking money from Respondent's safe prevented Reilly from receiving a fair trial.

Division III created its own justification for affirming the trial court's denial of Reilly's motion for directed verdict and denying Reilly motion to bifurcate. The Decision affirms the trial court's decisions based on Reilly's prior acts based on a common plane and motive. ER 404(b). This issue was never raised by any party to this case and was only raised during oral argument for the first time by Division III. Reilly moved Division III for the opportunity to provide briefing on the newly raised issue pursuant to RAP 12.1(b), but Reilly motion was denied.

Division III's use of prior bad acts under ER 404(b) violated the trial court's motion in limine preventing any mention Reilly was criminally charged for any of the alleged conversion claims asserted by the Respondents'. By affirming the trial court's decisions to deny the motion for directed verdict regarding conversion of money from the safe, and denial of Reilly's motion to bifurcate prior unrelated allegations from the main claim of conversion of money from Respondents' safe, Division III essentially condoned Respondents' violation of the motion in limine. At the time of trial, Reilly had never been convicted of any crime, yet pending criminal charges prevented by a motion in limine, which was violated by Respondents', ultimately became the basis for the Decision.

Page: 17

UUI. ZJ. ZVZV J. IJI ITI

INU. ZZJV I. 1/

### V. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review.

"The trial court's denial of a motion for a mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion." State v. Thompson, 90 Wash. App. 41, 45, 950 P.2d 977 (1998). A mistrial is appropriate where the "defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial will ensure that the defendant will be tried fairly." Id. In determining whether a trial irregularity warrants a new trial, the Appellate Court considers, "(I) the seriousness of the irregularity; (2) whether the statement in question was cumulative of evidence properly admitted; and (3) whether the irregularity could have been cured by an instruction to disregard the remark, an instruction a jury is presumed to follow." State v. Escalona, 49 Wash. App. 251, 255, 742 P.2d 190 (1987).

A trial court's ruling on a directed verdict is reviewed de novo.

Paetsch v. Spokane Dermatology Clinic, P.S., 182 Wash.2d 842, 848, 348

P.3d 389 (2015). "A directed verdict is appropriate if, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." Chaney v. Providence Health Care, 176

Wash.2d 727, 731, 295 P.3d 728 (2013).

A trial court's ruling regarding a motion to bifurcate is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Roswell, 165 Wash.2d 186,

192, 196 P.3d 705 (2008). A trial court abuses its discretion if it makes a decision based on untenable ground or for untenable reasons. <u>Braam v. State</u>, 150 Wash.2d 689, 706, 81 P.3d 851 (2003).

# B. Nothing Short of a New Trial Could Cure the Prejudice Suffered by Reilly as a Result of the Violation of the Motion in Limine.

In determining whether a trial irregularity warrants a new trial, the Appellate Court considers, "(I) the seriousness of the irregularity; (2) whether the statement in question was cumulative of evidence properly admitted; and (3) whether the irregularity could have been cured by an instruction to disregard the remark, an instruction a jury is presumed to follow." Escalona, 49 Wash. App. at 254. In affirming the trial court's decision to deny the motion for mistrial, Division III did not perform the about-stated analysis. Douglass v. Reilly, 2020 WL 3432978 \* 4. Instead, Division III justified the trial court's denial of the motion for mistrial because the violation was an isolated incident in a lengthy trial and evidence was presented Reilly could be criminally charged. Id.

The seriousness and irregularity of the Respondents' direct violation of the motion in limine cannot be understated. By making the statement in the presence of the jury that Reilly had been charged with six felonies by Spokane County Police in relation to the property subject to Plaintiffs' conversion claim, it made it clear to the jury that the authorities

Page: 19

NU. ZZJU 1. 17

had already investigated, considered the evidence and determined Reilly had wrongfully taken the property from Respondents' home. The trial court instructed the jury to consider the evidence, but did not instruct the jury Mr. Hassing's statement regarding Reilly being charged with six felonies was untrue, and did not allow Reilly to inform the jury he was not charged with taking the money from Respondents' safe. RP 245.

There was no finding by Division III that informing the jury Reilly had been charged with six felonies directly related to the conversion claims alleged was cumulative evidence. Douglass v. Reilly, 2020 WL 3432978 \* 4. The Decision merely states there was other evidence presented suggesting Reilly could face criminal charges. Id. There was no other evidence that Reilly was charged with six felonies for taking property from Respondents' home, and any evidence Reilly could face criminal charges is not cumulative evidence. Further, the trial court did not provide a curative instruction, inform the jury the charges were untrue, or allow Reilly to provide evidence he was not charged with taking the money from Respondents' safe as the result of a police investigation. RP 245. The trial court merely instructed the jury to consider the evidence.

Because there was no cumulative evidence or curative instruction by the trial court, the prejudice was substantial and the motion for mistrial

NO. ZZJV I. ZV

P.3d 870 (2005). In Escalona, the Appellate Court found the trial court abused its discretion by not granting a mistrial where a witness violated a motion in limine not to mention the defendant's stabbing, which was similar to the charge before the jury. Escalona, 49 Wash. App. at 256-257. The trial court struck the statement and instructed the jury to disregard the witness's statement. Id. at 253. In this matter, it was not a witness who inadvertently violated a motion in limine in response to question, but rather an intentional violation of the motion in limine by Respondents' counsel to prejudice the jury. The resulting prejudice is clear, and Reilly should have been granted a mistrial.

By intentionally violating the motion in limine, Reilly was not afforded a fair trial. The Decision fails to conduct the proper analysis and affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion for mistrial without finding the violation to be cumulative evidence and that a curative instruction was provided to cure the prejudice to Reilly. Therefore, the Supreme Court should accept review to cure the violation of Reilly's Constitutional right to a fair trial.

C. Prior Bad Acts and Common Scheme Evidence are Inadmissible and cannot be the Basis for Respondents' Conversion of Money from their Safe Claim.

In the Decision, because Respondents' failed to provide evidence that Reilly converted money from their safe, Division III affirmed the trial court's decision to deny the motion for directed verdict based on prior bad acts and common scheme evidence. Douglass v. Reilly, 2020 WL 3432978 \* 3-4. First, the Decision is problematic because it literally basis its affirmation of the trial court's decision and support for the jury verdict on the very subject matter prohibited by the violated motion in limine preventing any mention of criminal charges. At the time of trial, Reilly has never been convicted of any crime, and to justify the verdict and trial court ruling based upon prior bad acts is clear error.

Pursuant to ER 404(b), evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is "not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." ER 404(b). To be admissible to show a common plan or scheme, evidence of prior acts must meet a four-part test:

the prior acts were (1) proved by a preponderance of the evidence, (2) offered for the purpose of proving a common plan or scheme, (3) relevant to prove an element of the crime charged or to rebut a defense, and (4) more probative than prejudicial."

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