FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2020 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98809-9

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

HARLAN D. DOUGLASS and MAXINE H. DOUGLASS Plaintiffs-Respondents

v.

BRYAN J. REILLY

Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven J. Hassing, WSBA No. 6690 LAW OFFICE OF STEVEN J. HASSING 425 Calabria Court Roseville, CA 95747 (916) 677-1776 sjh@hassinglaw.com

Attorney for Respondent, Harlan Douglass, individually and as Personal Representative of Maxine Douglass Bryan Reilly seeks Discretionary Review of a final decision by Division III of the Washington State Court of Appeals which affirmed in the jury verdict and the Trial Court's rulings. Rule 13.4(b) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure limits to four the circumstances under which review might be accepted;

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Reilly's Petition is not based on any of the four possible reasons under which the Supreme Court might grant review. Rather, Reilly simply claims that he was denied the *right to a fair trial*. (Petition, p. 15). Regardless, Reilly has failed to show that he was deprived of a fair trial or that he was prejudiced by any action of Douglass or trial court ruling to the extent that it would have changed the outcome of the trial.

Reilly argues that three events during which occurred during trial rendered it unfair and that Division III introduced an issue which prevented a meaningful review. He contents;

- (1) That the Trial Court had entered an Order precluding Douglass' counsel, Steven J. Hassing, from mentioning that Reilly had been charged with six felonies related to the theft of Douglass' property and that Hassing intentionally violated that order;
- (2) That the trial court erred in failing to bifurcate thefts of gold, silver, jewelry and smaller amounts of cash from the Douglass' home from the larger theft from the Douglass' safe;
- (3) That the trial court erred in failing to grant Reilly's motion for judgment at the close of Plaintiffs' case in chief, and
- (4) That Division III raised *bad acts* as a new issue not raised or briefed by either party,

Reilly's arguments do not warrant acceptance of this case for further review. Moreover, Reilly's intentional misrepresentation of the facts regarding the existence of the pre-trial order on the motions in limine warrant sanctions.

I.

REILLY'S ARGUMENT THAT DOUGLASS' COUNSEL VIOLATED AN ORDER IN LIMINE IS A BLATENT AND INTENTIONAL FALSE REPRESENTATION

Reilly's Petition for Discretionary Review contains fifteen separate false statements of fact known to his Mr. Freebourn to be false. The false statements are shown below with reference to the page in the Petition on which the false statement is made. In asserting facts 2 - 8, 15 and 16, Reilly refers to a *violation of a motion* rather than violation of an *order*. Douglass has simply followed suit.

- 1. Page 3—Reilly falsely represented that the trial court ruled that Douglass could not inform the jury of the six pending felonies with which Reilly had been charged. (The evidence showing that the statement is false is found at RP 78; 18-85; 25).
- 2. Page 4—Reilly falsely represented that Douglass' counsel intentionally violated the motion in limine. (Id).
- 3. Page 10—Reilly again made false reference to Douglass' counsel violating the motion in limine. (Id).
- 4. Page 10—Reilly falsely represented that Division III essentially condoned Douglass' violation of the motion in limine. (See Bottom of Page 7-top of Page 8; Unpublished Opinion, June 23, 2020, Case No 36134-9-III) (See also at Middle of Page 11 Decision).
- 5. Page 11—Reilly once again falsely represented that Division III essentially condoned Douglass' violation of the motion in limine. (Id).
- 6, 7 & 8. Page 11—Reilly made three more false representations regarding a *violation of the motion in limine*. (RP 78; 18-85; 25).
- 9 & 10. Page 15—Reilly twice again falsely represented that there was an intentional violation of a motion in limine. (Id).

- 11. Page 16—Reilly again refers to a violation of a motion in limine. (Id).
- 12. Page 17—Reilly falsely represented that there was an order in limine preventing Douglass from mentioning that Reilly had been criminally charged and that Hassing violated that Order. (Id).
- 13. Page 18—Reilly falsely represent that Division III used excluded evidence (referring to a non-existent Order) to justify the trial court's decision. (Id).
- 14. Page 19—Reilly argued that evidence of prior bad acts (referring to Reilly's theft of gold, silver, money and jewelry) violated the trial court's order in limine. (Id).
- 15. Page 20—Reilly again refers to Division III improperly using inadmissible evidence that was excluded by the trial court's order in limine. (Id).

Reilly Made Those Same False Representation in His Opening Brief on Appeal

Reilly made the same false representations at pages 42-47 in his Opening Brief filed in Division III. In response, Douglass referenced the relevant portions of the parties' oral argument from the hearing on the motions in limine to show that Reilly's representations were false. Yet, even after having been shown that there was no such order, those same

false representations are now made in support of the Petition for Discretionary Review.

A. Reilly Failed to Designate the Motions in Limine or the Resulting Order Precluding Mention of the Felony Charges Because There Was no Such Order

One would think that with a large part of his appeal based upon an alleged violation of a court order that Reilly would have designated the order for inclusion in the Clerk's Papers. He didn't. Although he designated 2475 pages of Clerk's Papers, Reilly failed to designate the order he relies upon. The reason for that failure is because there is no such order. Instead, he argued from the Trial Court's attempt, from the bench during trial to recall what had happened ten days earlier on the arguments in limine.

When Douglass' filed his Response Brief on August 5, 2019 he attached, as Appendix "A", the trial court's April 16, 2018 Order on Motions in Limine filed May 3, 2018. He simultaneously filed a motion seeking to supplement the record to include the order. The order is attached as Appendix "A" to this Answer.

Fortunately the transcript of the April 6, 2018 argument on the motions in limine was designated as part of the Report of Proceedings. That part of the argument relevant to this issue is found at RP 78 through 86.

At RP 78; 18 of the transcript Douglass' attorney began arguing Douglass' own motion in limine seeking to preclude Reilly's mention that he had not been charged with stealing the money from the Douglass' safe.

Reilly opposed Douglass' motion because he wanted to offer evidence that Reilly had not been criminally charged with theft from the safe. To bolster his argument, Reilly's counsel conceded that Douglass probably gets to introduce evidence of the existing criminal charges against Reilly and used that concession as a basis to oppose Douglass' motion that Reilly not mention that he had not been charged with theft of the larger amount of cash from the safe.

I think they probably do get to introduce that evidence, but I don't think they get to exclude part because it doesn't' help their case. (RP 80; 11-12).

The trial court granted Douglass' motion prohibiting Reilly from mentioning that he had not been charged with stealing the money from the safe. That ruling then caused Reilly to orally move to exclude reference to his being charged with six felonies for other thefts from the Douglass' home. The trial court, however, refused to grant Reilly' untimely oral motion stating instead if Douglass' attorney mentioned Reilly's felony charges and if Reilly then objected the trial court would *probably* sustain the objection. (RT 85; 7- 25).

Division III even references the statement of the Trial Court at pages 7 and 8 of its Decision. Accordingly, though Douglass' attorney's one question to Reilly's mother was improper it did not violate any order.

When this Court looks at the April 16, 2018 order (filed May 2) it will notice that the trial court ruled first on Plaintiffs' 21 motions. Plaintiffs' motion number 4 sought to preclude questions concerning prior criminal charges. It was granted. Plaintiff had not moved to preclude himself from mentioning Reilly's current felony charges in this case. The motion was directed at criminal charges against Plaintiff and Third Party Defendant Tanner Haynes.

Plaintiffs' motion number 5 was to preclude Reilly from mentioning that he had not been charged with a crime involving theft from the safe. That motion was granted.

Defendant only made five motions none of which sought to preclude mention of Reilly's felony charges. Defendant made the motion orally and it was denied as shown by the transcript.

B. Reilly Misstated Division III's Comment Concerning Douglass' Attorney's Question to Reilly's Mother About Reilly's Criminal Charges

At page 10 of his Petition Reilly falsely claims that Division III agreed there was a violation of the motion in limine. That is another fabrication. What Division III actually stated is reprinted below;

...the court granted Mr. Douglass' motion in limine to preclude evidence that Mr. Reilly had not been criminally charged with theft. In granting the motion, the court noted it would also "probably" sustain an objection to any testimony that Mr. Reilly had been charged criminally, should such evidence be elicited at trial. (citing RP (Apr. 6, 2018) at 85-86).

(Div III Decision at p 7-8).

Douglass does not take issue with Reilly's argument to the extent it alleges that Hassing's question to Reilly's mother was improper. At page 11 of its Decision, Division III agreed that the question to Reilly's mother about the existence of criminal charges was improper. In fact Hassing acknowledged the mistake during oral argument before the Division III panel. That does not, however, give Reilly license to lie to this Court twelve times in a twenty page brief in an attempt to make such impropriety look worse than it was.

The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court that the one mention of the charges did not prejudice Reilly sufficiently to warrant a new trial. Division III concluded that the trial court had not abused its discretion in denying Reilly's motion for mistrial because Reilly had not been prejudiced and the one improper question. The record is repeat with testimony from a plethora of witnesses from which the jury undoubtedly concluded that Reilly was not credible and stolen each of the items for which he had been sued. The single improper question during the three

week trial was harmless under the circumstances and does not warrant further review by the Supreme Court.

II

REILLY FAILED TO DESIGNATE AS ERROR THE DENIAL OF HIS MOTION TO BIFURCATE. LIKEWISE HE FAILED TO DESIGNATE ANY RELATED ISSUES FOR THE COURT TO CONSIDER

As the other basis for claiming that Reilly was denied a fair trial Reilly argues that the trial court *abused its discretion* in denying his pretrial motion to bifurcate. Reilly, however, completely failed to identify that denial in his assignments of error on appeal, failing also even to designate any issues related to such an error, both expressly required by RAP 10.3(a)(4);

A separate concise statement of each error a party contends was made by the trial court, together with the issues pertaining to the assignments of error

RAP 10.3(a)(4).

Civil Rule 42(b) provides the trial court with authority to order separate trials of claims or issues *when necessary* to avoid prejudice or when separate trials will be conducive to expedition and economy. Bifurcation was not required to simply hide from the jury the extent and pattern of Reilly's thefts. The trial court was obligated to consider the

inconvenience that would have been imposed upon witnesses as well as the court itself if the case were to be bifurcated.

Reilly's thefts all involved contents from inside of the Douglass' home. The thefts all occurred during a time when Reilly was entrusted with the care of both the home and its contents. (RT 631; 19- 632; 2). Moreover the dates and circumstances of thefts, including the theft from the safe, demonstrated a common and continuing tort occurring over a very short two year period. Reilly's thefts began on September 23, 2013, obviously extending through September 25, 2015.

Reilly began selling Douglass' coins and jewelry on September 23, 2013. (Pl Ex. 38-1, 2. 3). Over the course of just two years Reilly stole additional coins. (Pl Ex. 39). On December 12, 2013, Reilly stole the Douglass' two Rolex watches. (P. Ex 11). Reilly stole more coins on February 11, 2014 (P Ex 40). He stole Maxine Douglass' diamond rings on March 17, 2014. (P Ex 7).

Between February 28, 2014 and September 02, 2015, just *twenty three days before* he emptied the Douglass' safe, Reilly stole \$77,450 in cash which he brazenly deposited into his bank account. (CP 2436).

Refusal to Grant Order Bifurcation Case is Reviewed For Abuse of Discretion

Where the decision of the trial court is a matter of discretion it will not be disturbed on review except on a <u>clear showing</u> of abuse of discretion, i.e., discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). After failing even to list failure to bifurcate as an error, Reilly failed to make the required clear showing of abuse of discretion. There was no reason for the trial court to bifurcate and no reason for the Supreme Court to review this case on that basis.

Ш

EVIDENCE OF REILLY'S MANY THEFTS FROM THE DOUGLASS' HOME WAS OFFERED TO PROVE THE CLAIMS, NOT AS BAD ACTS VIOLATIVE OF ER 404(b).

In arguing that Division III's Decision was based on inadmissible evidence of bad acts in violation of ER 404(b) Reilly is again being disingenuous. He argues that such mention violates an order in limine. However, as can be seen from the actual order in limine attached as Appendix "A", that issue was ruled on prior to trial.

At page 5 of the trial court's actual order Reilly's motion to preclude evidence of the prior thefts as violative of ER 404(b) was **granted** as to normal character evidence but **denied** as to preclude evidence of Defendant's theft of Plaintiff's personal property in proving

those claims. Evidence of the thefts was offered to prove Douglass' claims and was not offered to establish bad character. Moreover, Reilly has failed to identify any ER 404(b) objections to that evidence.

IV

THERE WAS NO BASIS ON WHICH JUDGMENT FOR REILLY COULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED AT THE CLOSE OF PLAINTIFF'S CASE IN CHIEF

The record on appeal contains fact after fact which prevented the trial court from granting Reilly's motion for Judgment. Since Reilly's appeal was based in large part on lack of evidence Douglass' Response Brief details all of the evidence which required denial of Reilly's motion. No error can be found in the trial court's ruling.

V

CONCLUSION

Reilly's Petition fails to articulate any basis for review as allowed by RAP 13.4(b). Reilly has failed to show that he was deprived of a fair trial. On the major ground cited, violation of an in limine order, as opposed to improper question, it is clear that all facts supporting such violation are fabricated. Reilly's Petition must be denied and attorney's fees and sections should be awarded against both Reilly and his attorney, Chad Freebourn, for serious and intentional Rule 11 violations.